A ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. Appellant was denied his constitutional right to a fair 

trial when the prosecutor committed multiple acts of flagrant 

misconduct. 

2. Appellant was denied effective assistance of counsel 

when defense counsel failed to object to the prosecutor's 

misconduct. 

3. Did the trial court err when it miscalculated appellant's 

presumptive sentence? 

4. If the State seeks appellate costs, those should be 

denied.

Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error 

1. During closing arguments, the prosecutor stated her 

opinion that appellant was guilty of attempted murder, but that her 

office made it "easy" for the jury by only charging appellant with first 

degree assault. The prosecutor also misstated the law as to self

defense by telling the jury it could find appellant was the first 

aggressor based solely on his state of mind that evening, rather 

than his conduct at the time of the incident. The prosecutor also 

conveyed to the jury that they needed to return a verdict that would 

bring the alleged victim "justice." Did this flagrant and prejudicial 
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misconduct deny appellant his right to a fair trial? 

2. Defense counsel failed to object to the above stated 

misconduct. Did this constitute ineffective assistance of counsel? 

3. When imposing sentence, the trial court mistakenly 

calculated appellant's standard range to be sixty months more than 

provided for in the Sentencing Reform Act of 1981 (SRA). Is 

remand for resentencing required? 

4. Appellant is indigent Should this Court deny 

appellant costs if they are requested? 

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

1. Procedural History 

On April 3, 2013, the King County prosecutor charged 

appellant Juan Garcia-Mendez with one count of first-degree 

assault with a firearm, one count of unlawful possession of a 

firearm, and an aggravator for rapid recidivism. CP 22-28. A jury 

found Garcia-Mendez guilty as charged. CP 281, 283, 284. He 

was sentenced to 400 months of confinement. CP 297 -305; 1 RP 

199.1 Garcia-Mendez timely appeals his conviction and sentence. 

CP 309-326. 

1 This brief refers to the verbatim report of proceedings as follows: 
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2. Substantive Facts. 

On April 1, 2013, Garcia-Mendez and Richard Powell 

encountered each other in a West Seattle alley shortly before 

midnight. 2RP 131, 670, 942. Powell, a town car driver, was 

standing outside his car filling out paperwork and taking a smoke 

break. 2RP 124, 130. Powell was wearing a concealed Glock 9-

millimeter pistol on his person for which he had a permit. 2RP 126. 

He had been robbed six months earlier and, as a consequence, 

carried a concealed weapon because he never wanted to feel 

helpless if a similar situation occurred. 2RP 126-27. 

At some point, Garcia-Mendez and a friend approached 

Powell.2 2RP 942. A shoot-out ensued in which Powell and 

Garcia-Mendez wounded each other. 2RP 679-80. Powell was 

shot three times in the chest and nearly died. RP 594, 599. He 

o "1 RP" -the single volume containing proceedings from 12/13/13, 5/1/15, 
6/29/15, 7/1/15, 7/7/15, 9/25/15. 

o "2RP"- the remaining volumes starting on 7/9/15 that are consecutively 
paginated. 

2 There was disputed evidence as to Garda-Mendez's purpose for approaching 
Powell. While there was testimony suggesting Garcia-Mendez and two friends 
got in the car that night with the intent to go out and rob and cause damage to 
people, there was also testimony that Garcia-Mendez said he was merely asking 
for directions when he and a friend approached Powell. 2RP 131, 942, 944, 973. 
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was able to call 911, and responding officers and medics were able 

to stabilize him. 2RP 114, 131. 

Meanwhile, Garcia-Mendez had been shot by Powell in the 

arm, hand, and flank. 2RP 602. After being shot, he ran back to 

the car he arrived in, and his friend drove him a short distance 

away. 2RP 231. Shortly thereafter, Garcia-Mendez ran into the 

street to flag down a passing police officer, seeking help for his 

wounds. 2RP 294-295, 304. 

The primary issue at trial was whether Garcia-Mendez had 

acted in self-defense, or whether he was the first aggressor. 

Specifically, the question was whether Garcia-Mendez drew his 

weapon first, or whether he was reacting after Powell first drew his 

gun. 2RP 691-92. While the State introduced a surveillance video 

of the incident showing a quick exchange of gunfire between 

Garcia-Mendez and Powell, with Garcia-Mendez firing first, it did 

not show who drew their gun first. 2RP RP 279-80, 691. Based on 

what he saw in the video, the State's expert admitted it was 

possible the victim drew first. 2RP 692. 

It was the defense's theory that Powell, who had been the 

previous victim of a robbery and was armed in case it happened 

again, had been spooked when Garcia-Mendez and his friend 
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approached Powell to ask for directions. Perhaps understandably, 

Powell pulled out his gun. Unfortunately, however, this prompted 

Garcia-Mendez to defend himself by drawing his own weapon and 

shooting. 2RP 1054-57. 

By contrast, the State's theory was that Garcia-Mendez 

approached Powell with his gun drawn in an attempt to rob Powell. 

2RP 1033. This theory rested primarily on the testimony of Powell 

and Lawrence Askew, a former cellmate of Garcia-Meridez. 2RP 

1033. Powel had testified that he remembered seeing Garcia

Mendez with gun drawn before he drew his own gun. 2RP 131, 

172. However, under cross-examination, Powell admitted that he 

never told officers that Garcia-Mendez displayed a gun when he 

gave his first statement recounting the incident. 2RP 154-56. He 

also stated he had been exposed to outside news sources and 

discussion by family and friends about the incident. RP 156-57. 

The State also relied on the testimony of Askew. 2RP 1033. 

According to Askew, Garcia-Mendez claimed that he and his friend 

came up to Powell with guns drawn. 2RP 946. Upon cross

examination, however, Askew was forced to admit that he had 

access to Garcia-Mendez's court documents and discovery before 

reporting his story to authorities and that he had received leniency 
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in his own criminal matters in exchange for his testimony against 

Garcia-Mendez.3 2RP 951, 955-59. 

C. ARGUMENT 

I. GARCIA-MENDEZ WAS DENIED A FAIR TRIAL 
WHEN THE PROSECUTOR COMMITTED 
MULTIPLE ACTS OF FLAGRANT MISCONDUCT. 

Garcia-Mendez was denied his right to a fair trial when the 

prosecutor committed misconduct during closing argument, some 

of which were objectionable on multiple grounds and all of which 

resulted in an enduring prejudice to the outcome of the case. 

Prosecutorial misconduct may deprive a defendant of the fair 

trial guaranteed him under the state and federal constitutions. 

State v. Monday, 171 Wn.2d 667, 676-77, 257 P.3d 551 (2011); 

State v. Reed, 102 Wn.2d 140, 145, 684 P.2d 699 (1984); State v. 

Evans, 163 Wn. App. 635, 642, 260 P.3d 934 (2011). Because of 

their unique position in the justice system, prosecutors must steer· 

wide from unfair trial tactics. Monday, 171 Wn.2d at 676. 

A prosecutor serves two important functions. A 
prosecutor must enforce the law by prosecuting those 
who have violated the peace and dignity of the state by 
breaking the law. A prosecutor also functions as the 
representative of the people in a quasijudicial capacity 
in a search for justice. 

3 Further facts relevant to the specific legal issues raised are included below. 
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ld. Defendants are among the people the prosecutor represents and, 

therefore, the prosecutor owes a duty to defendants to see that their 

rights to a constitutionally fair trial are not violated. ld. · 

Prosecutorial misconduct is grounds for reversal if the 

prosecuting attorney's conduct was both improper and prejudicial. 

Monday, 171 Wn.2d at 675, (citations omitted). Prejudice is 

established where there is a substantial likelihood that the 

misconduct affected the jury's verdict. l5i at 578. 

Failure to object to a prosecutor's improper remark constitutes 

waiver unless the remark is deemed to be flagrant and ill-intentioned. 

State v. Belgarde, 110 Wn.2d 504, 507, 755 P.2d 174 (1988). 

However, if the misconduct is flagrant, the petitioner has not waived 

his right to review of the conduct. State v. Charlton, 90 Wn.2d 657, 

661, 585 P.2d 142 (1978). In such cases, reversal is required if the 

misconduct caused an enduring and resulting prejudice. State v. 

Jones, 144 Wn. App. 284, 290, 183 P.3d 307, 311 (2008). 

Here, the prosecutor flagrantly engaged in misconduct 

through unfair argument in which she: (1) expressly told the jury 

that she believed Garcia-Mendez had committed attempted murder, 

but her office made it "easy" on the jury by only charging first 

degree assault; (2) misrepresented the law as to whether Garcia-
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Mendez was the first aggressor; and (3) appealed to the passions 

of the jury when she told the jurors to bring Powell justice via their 

verdict. The cumulative effective of this misconduct was to deny 

Garcia-Mendez a fair trial and an impartial verdict. 

(i) The Prosecutor Improperly Stated Her 
Personal Opinion that Garcia-Mendez was 
Guilty of Attempted Murder. 

a. Facts 

During rebuttal argument, the prosecutor revealed her 

personal opinion that Garcia-Mendez was guilty, stating: "Now is 

this easily an attempted murder? Yeah." 2RP 1065. She went on 

to tell the jury: "But we made it easy for you. Assault in the first 

degree." 2RP 1065. She ended her argument by telling the jury 

that, "at the end of the day, [a guilty verdict is] a no-brainer." 2RP 

1067. 

b. Legal Argument 

The prosecutor's statements were highly offensive to any 

notion of a fair trial and constituted an impermissible comment on 

guilt, an improper use of the power of the prosecuting attorney's 

office, a reference to facts not before the jury, and a deliberate 

effort to trivialize the State's burden. 
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It is impermissible for a prosecutor to express a personal 

opinion as to the credibility of a witness or the guilt of a defendant. 

State v. Lindsay, 180 Wn.2d 423, 437, 326 P.3d 125 (2014). 

Additionally, the prosecutor cannot use his or her position of power 

and prestige to sway the jury independent of the evidence. State v. 

Reed, 102 Wn.2d 140, 147-48, 684 P.2d 699, 701 (1984). Such 

misconduct poses a serious risk of prejudice because a 

"prosecutor's argument is likely to have significant persuasive force 

with the jury due in part to the prestige associated with the 

prosecutor's office." In re Pers. Restraint of Glasmann, 175 Wn.2d 

696, 706, 286 P.3d 673 (2012) (citing Am. Bar Ass'n Standards for 

Criminal Justice: Prosecution & Defense Function, std. 3-5.8, cmt. 

at 107 (3d ed.1993)). 

It is the jury's duty to independently decide the case on the 

evidence. State v. Echevarria, 71 Wn. App. 595, 598, 860 P.2d 

420 (1993). Hence, the prosecutor may make "only those 

arguments that are consistent with the trier's duty to decide the 

case on the evidence, and should not seek to divert the trier from 

that duty." ABA Criminal Justice Standards 3-6.8(c). The 

prosecutor may not divert the jury's attention away from the gravity 
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of its role in assessing its case by trivializing its own burden. State 

v. Walker, 164 Wn. App. 724,732,265 P.3d 191, 196 (2011). 

A prosecutor must "seek convictions based only on probative 

evidence and sound reason," State v. Casteneda-Perez, 61 Wn. 

App. 354, 363, 810 P.2d 74 (1991); State v. Huson, 73 Wn.2d 660, 

663, 440 P.2d 192 (1968). "[T]he scope of argument must be 

consistent with the evidence and marked by the fairness that 

should characterize all of the prosecutor's conduct." Glasmann, 

175 Wn.2d at 705. Hence, a prosecutor may not make references 

to charges that were not brought against the defendant. State v. 

Boehning, 127 Wn. App. 511, 522, 111 P.3d 899, 905 (2005); State 

v. Torres, 16 Wn. App. 254, 256, 554 P.2d 1069 (1976); ABA 

Standards for Criminal Justice 3-6.9. 

Here, the prosecutor violated these well-recognized precepts 

that are crucial to a fair trial process with a single line of argument. 

First, the she cavalierly stated that based on the facts of the case 

she had concluded that Garcia-Mendez was "easily" guilty of 

attempted murder. RP 1065. The is a truly outrageous statement 

for a government official to be making in a closing argument. 

Beyond offering the prosecutor's personal opinion on guilt, 
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reference to any attempted murder was not based on facts in 

evidence, irrelevant, and highly prejudicial. 

The prosecutor's reference to the uncharged crime of 

attempted murder also effectively diverted the jury's attention away 

from reaching a verdict based on reason and the evidence before it. 

First, she elevated Garcia-Mendez's culpability to attempted 

murder. The implication of this was to say to the jury - I believe 

Garcia-Mendez is really a murderer and, thus an assault conviction 

necessarily follows. However, the notion of murder, or the attempt 

thereof, was not a material consideration in this case and very 

evocative. 

A charge of "murder" is exceptionally powerful, evoking a 

serious emotional response and disdain from the average person. 

Thus, by injecting the concept of murder into Garcia-Mendez's trial, 

the prosecutor was arousing the passions of the jury against 

Garcia-Mendez. The jury should never have been thinking about 

murder during its deliberations, but the prosecutor's bombshell in 

rebuttal argument destroyed any real chance of that. 

The prosecutor's statement about her personal opinion 

regarding Garcia-Mendez's guilt is notably similar prosecutorial 

misconduct as that which occurred in Reed. There, the prosecutor 
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stated: "He's a cold murder two. It's cold. There is no question 

about murder two." Reed, 102 Wn.2d at 144. The Washington 

Supreme Court found the prosecutor's statement of his personal 

opinion on guilt to be "reprehensible" and to constitute a "grievous 

departure" from the fundamental notions of the role of the 

prosecutor in a fair trial process. .!.9.:. at 146-48. The same occurred 

here. 

Remarkably, the prosecutor did not stop with offering her 

personal opinion that the defendant was guilty of attempted murder; 

she went on to state that her office ("we") made it "easy" on the jury 

by only charging Garcia-Mendez with first degree assault. 2RP 

1065. Again this was entirely irrelevant and beyond the evidence. 

More importantly, this statement served to trivialize the State's 

burden, and it was a thinly veiled attempt to throw the power of the 

prosecutor's office behind a guilty verdict. Indeed, the prosecutor 

summarized her entire argument by concluding "at the end of the 

day, it's a no-brainer." 2RP 1067. Such trivialization of the State's 

burden and misuse of the power of the prosecutor's office have no 

place in a fair trial. 
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Finally, the prosecutor trivialized the State's burden. 

Essentially, she told the jury "we" in the prosecutor's office know 

that Garcia-Mendez is guilty of attempted murder, so we expect 

that you, the jurors, will easily reach a verdict on first degree 

assault. 

The prosecutor told the jury his office decided to throw them 

an "easy" charge and that a guilty verdict was a "no-brainer." 

These statements not only trivialized the State's burden, they were 

designed to divert the jury away from the kind of reasoned 

deliberations that are a hallmark of our judicial system. A jury 

should never be told that a guilty verdict is a "no-brainer" no matter 

how strong the prosecutor thinks her case. Our justice system 

demands a more reasoned consideration of the evidence. 

In sum, Garcia-Mendez was denied his right to a fair trial 

when the prosecutor told the jury her personal opinion as to Garcia

Mendez's guilt, stated that her office made it easy on the jury by 

merely charging Garcia-Mendez with first degree assault, and 

trivialized the State's burden by stating reaching a guilty verdict was 

a "no-brainer." This misconduct violated several cannons of 

professional conduct. As such, it cannot be characterized as 

anything other than flagrant, and reversal is warranted. 
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(ii) The Prosecutor Misstated the Law when She 
Claimed Garcia-Mendez's Alleged Malicious 
Intent when He Went out that Night Was 
Sufficient Evidence to Find him the First 
Aggressor. 

When determining whether a person is the first aggressor for 

self-defense purposes, the jury must consider the conduct of the 

two parties involved. The prosecutor misled the jury as to this 

point, telling them that Garcia-Mendez's state of mind when he got 

in the car on the evening of the incident determined whether he 

was the first aggressor. This line of argument misstated the law 

regarding the core issue in dispute and thus denied Garcia-Mendez 

his right to a fair jury determination regarding his defense. 

a. Facts 

Garcia-Mendez's defense was that he acted in self-defense 

and only pulled out his weapon after Powell drew his gun first. 2RP 

1053-57. Defense counsel argued that it was understandable why 

Powell would draw his gun - he recently had been the victim of an 

armed robbery and did not want to feel helpless again. However, 

even under these circumstances, defense counsel argued, Garcia-

Mendez was entitled to act in self-defense. 2RP 1053-54. 

The jury was instructed that if it found Garcia-Mendez the 

first aggressor, self-defense was not available to him. CP 232. 
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The State argued to the jury that Garcia-Mendez was the first 

aggressor and not entitled to self-defense because: (1) the 

surveillance video showed Powell did not approach the others; (2) 

that it was unbelievable that Garcia-Mendez was just asking for 

directions; and (3) Garcia-Mendez was out that night with the intent 

to rob and damage people. 2RP 1046. 

During rebuttal, the prosecutor again zeroed in on the 

question of who was the first aggressor and told the jury that 

defendant's state of mind alone qualified him as the first aggressor: 

The key issue here is what did Mr. Garcia intend. 
Because the intent, his intent that day, is what 
determines was he the primary aggressor .... 

2RP 1063. 

b. Legal Argument 

The prosecutor may not misstate the law to the jury. State v. 

Warren, 165 Wn.2d 17, 27, 195 P.3d 940 (2008). This constitutes 

misconduct. State v. Fleming, 83 Wn. App. 209, 213, 921 P.2d 

1076 (1996). "The prosecuting attorney misstating the law of the 

case to the jury is a serious irregularity having the grave potential to 

mislead the jury." State v. Davenport, 100 Wn.2d 757, 763, 675 

P.2d 1213 (1984). 
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When the jury determines whether a defendant is a first 

aggressor, the crucial question is "whether the defendant's acts 

precipitated a confrontation with the victim." State v. Wingate, 155 

Wn.2d 817, 821, 122 P.3d 908 (2005) (emphasis added). It is the 

defendant's conduct that must be scrutinized. Focusing on this, the 

Washington Supreme Court has concluded words are insufficient 

provocation to make some a first aggressor. State v. Riley, 137 

Wn.2d 904, 911, 976 P.2d 624 (1999). If words alone are 

insufficient provocation, then surely Garcia-Mendez's state of mind 

when going out was insufficient proof that he was the first 

aggressor. 

The State wrongly told the jury that Garcia-Mendez's intent 

to go out and cause trouble that evening was sufficient proof to 

deny him of the right to act in self defense. If the prosecutor's 

statement was correct, Garcia-Mendez could never claim self

defense for any acts the entire night because of his earlier state of 

mind. That means that even if someone pulled a knife on Garcia

Mendez while he was getting cash at a cash-machine and he 

defended himself, he would not be able to claim self-defense. The 

law does not support this kind of conclusion. 
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The law required the jury to look at Garcia-Mendez's conduct 

at the time of the incident with Powell, not his state of mind when 

he decided to go out that evening. The prosecutor's statements to 

the contrary constituted a misstatement of the law, which misled the 

jury as to the core issue in dispute. 

The prosecutor knew that a critical issue here was whether 

Garcia-Mendez was the first aggressor. She also presumably knew 

the law as it pertains to first aggressors. Under the correct law, the 

jury's focus should have been directed to Garcia-Mendez's 

conduct. By telling the jury that Garcia-Mendez's intent - rather 

than his conduct at the time of the confrontation - was the 

controlling factor in regards to determining whether he was the first 

aggressor, the prosecutor gutted Garcia-Mendez's most crucial line 

of defense. This was flagrant misconduct that prejudiced Garcia-

Mendez's right to have the jury fairly and fully consider his defense 

when deliberating. Consequently, reversal is required. 

(iii) The Prosecutor Deliberately Invoked the Jury's 
Sympathies When She Asked the Jury to Bring 
Powell Justice by Finding Garcia-Mendez 
Guilty. 

The jury's duty is to independently decide the case based on 

reasoned consideration of the evidence regardless of where their 
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personal sympathies may lay. Yet, the prosecutor blatantly played 

to the jurors' sympathies when she called on them to return a guilty 

verdict in order to bring justice to Powell. 

a. Facts 

The thrust of the State's argument was that Powell was an

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