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

C. ARGUMENT

THE PROSECUTOR DID NOT COMMIT FLAGRANT
AND ILL-INTENTIONED MISCONDUCT DURING
CLOSING ARGUMENT.

Although he made no objections during the State's closing

argument, Garcia-Mendez now claims that there were several instances of

prosecutorial misconduct. He alleges that it was misconduct for the

prosecutor to argue for justice on behalf of the victim; he claims that the

prosecutor committed misconduct by misstating the law regarding initial

aggressor and self-defense; and he claims that the prosecutor committed

misconduct by referring to the uncharged crime of attempted murder and

by giving her personal opinion as to the defendant's guilt.

Garcia-Mendez's arguments are without merit. Asking for justice

in an individual case without invoking larger societal imperatives is not

misconduct. Regarding the alleged misstatement of law, the prosecutor

correctly and extensively argued the initial aggressor issue and the jury

was properly instructed. To the extent that there was any error in the

prosecutor's argument it could have been cured by a timely objection and

reference to the court's instruction. Further, the prosecutor did not
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improperly give a personal opinion as to the defendant's guilt, but rather

argued based on the evidence that the defendant's intent to inflict great

bodily harm was clear. Finally, although it may have been inappropriate

to refer to the uncharged crime of attempted murder, the prosecutor did

not do so in order to argue that Garcia-Mendez was guilty of a greater

crime. Rather, she was referring to the mens rea of assault in the first

degree and the distinction between intent to kill and intent to inflict great

bodily harm. If this was error, it was harmless given the overwhelming

evidence of the defendant's guilt.

a. Closing Arguments.

In her initial closing argument, the prosecutor began by telling the

jury that Michael Powell was the victim of horrific, unprovoked, and

senseless stranger violence at the hands of Garcia-Mendez and his two

accomplices. 2RP 1031-32. After recounting that Powell had simply

taken a break from his work as a town-car driver and was smoking when

he was attacked, the prosecutor, referring to Powell's injuries, stated that

Powell was lucky to be alive and able to testify. 2RP 1032-33. The

prosecutor then said, "Now it's time to bring him justice." 2RP 1033.

Still in the initial closing argument, the prosecutor played the video

showing the shooting and discussed the "initial aggressor" issue:
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You have seen the approach. You have seen the
getaway. Let's talk about the sequence.

It is clear from the testimony of Leon Gordon and
Lawrence Askew and Mr. Powell that the defendant and his
accomplices had a plan. And it is clear that they accosted
him, they confronted him with guns drawn, and they were
the aggressors. Not Mr. Powell.

2RP 1038. The prosecutor then reminded the jury that expert witness

analysis of the video established that Garcia-Mendez fired the first shot

and Powell then returned fire. 2RP 1039.

After discussing evidence linking the three codefendants to the

shooting, the prosecutor addressed the "to convict" jury instruction for

first degree assault and the definition of great bodily harm. In discussing

great bodily harm, and noting that medical testimony established that

Powell was on the verge of death before being revived, the prosecutor

said:

What is great bodily harm? There's a few different phrases
in that instruction, but when it boils down to it, this isn't a
homicide case because of a medical miracle. But great
bodily harm is bodily injury that creates a probability of
death.

2RP 1043-44.

The prosecutor then refuted the anticipated self-defense argument

by again focusing on the initial aggressor issue:

But remember, you don't even have to look at or debate the
self-defense instructions if you find that Mr. Garcia-
Mendez himself and his accomplices were the aggressors in

-12-
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this case. From the surveillance video, we know
Mr. Powell was not looking for them. Mr. Powell was not
seeking them out.

Sure, when he [Garcia-Mendez] first talked to
Mr. Askew in his cell, he said, "I didn't have anything to
do with it." Kind of when he first told Detective Duffy, "I
don't remember anything about it."

Then he, after a little while, tries to tell Mr. Askew
he got shot in the fray, was asking for directions. We know
that wasn't his intent, because did he ever ask Leon Gordon
for directions? No. Did he ever ask Mr. Powell for
directions? No.

Finally when he trusts Mr. Askew, he tells him the
story. Out looking to rob people, do some damage, shoot
some people.

There is nothing in this case to suggest that
Mr. Powell did anything to provoke or justify what
Mr. Garcia-Mendez did that night.

2RP 1045-46.

The prosecutor concluded the initial closing argument by arguing

that the lesser included offense of second degree assault was not warranted

under the facts of the case. 2RP 1047.

In the defense closing argument, Garcia-Mendez attempted to

minimize the video surveillance footage that showed Garcia-Mendez and

his accomplice aggressively approaching Powell:

The State will have you believe that the way that those
figures move in itself is somehow an act of aggression.

Well, people walk differently. Young men of a
certain lifestyle walk a certain way. It is not attractive, it is
not pleasing to the eye, but aggression? Why is that
suddenly aggression?

2RP 1053.
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Defense counsel also argued that if Garcia-Mendez was the shooter

depicted in the video, that there was insufficient evidence to conclude that

he intended to inflict great bodily harm:

Juan did not intend to inflict great bodily harm. Who
knows what was intended? It's probably something
unsavory, probably come on, give me your stuff Who
knows?

But did he -- did he really intend, is there sufficient
-- you may think so, you may guess so, you may kind of
project your expectations, but is there sufficient evidence
that he intended to inflict great bodily harm on Mr. Powell?
Is there concrete, concrete, strong evidence of that? I
suggest no.

2RP 1061. Defense counsel concluded by asking the jury to consider the

lesser included offense of second degree assault based on the reckless

infliction of substantial bodily harm. 2RP 1062-63.

In rebuttal, the prosecutor immediately refuted the defense

argument regarding intent:

The key issue here is what did Mr. Garcia-Mendez
intend. Because the intent, his intent that day, is what
determines was he the primary aggressor and did he intend
great bodily harm. Rather than recklessly inflicting
substantial bodily harm.

2RP 1063-64. The prosecutor then argued that because "you cannot read

the mind of the defendant," the video was "an excellent piece of evidence

that tells you and shows you what his intent was." 2RP 1064. Then: "We

know on the video he approached Mr. Powell. And we know that he was
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the one that accosted Mr. Powell. Mr. Powell did not go looking for him."

~~

The prosecutor then stated:

Now, is this easily an attempted murder? Yeah.
But we made it easy for you. Assault in the first degree.
Intent to inflict great bodily harm. Juan Garcia-Mendez
acted with that intent when he shot Mr. Powell three times
at point-blank range in the chest. And he did so with a
firearm. And he did inflict great bodily harm.

2RP 1065.

Then, after making clear that the State had the burden to disprove

self-defense, the prosecutor again argued that Garcia-Mendez and his

accomplices were the aggressors:

The State submits to each and every one of you that
there is no reason to even look at self-defense, because the
evidence is overwhelming that Juan Garcia-Mendez and his —
accomplices were the primary aggressors. It's clear from
the video he shot first, he has a calculated perfect little
circle of shots, he knew exactly what he was doing, he
knew exactly what he was intending, and he was in control
the entire time.

2RP 1066.

The prosecutor began her conclusion by asking the jury not to

render a verdict based on emotions or passion. 2RP 1067. The prosecutor

then stated:

Your job is, what does the evidence prove? And what
reasonable doubt, if any, exists? And in some cases like
this, the evidence is overwhelming. And the ultimate

-15-
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Id.

decision for you is a difficult one, heavy-hearted one and a
serious one, but at the end of the day -- at the end of the
day, it's a no-brainer. You stand there, and you shoot a
man in the chest three times, and you didn't intend to inflict
great bodily harm?

b. Within The Context Of The Whole Argument The
Prosecutor's Comments Were Not Misconduct.

The United States and Washington Constitutions guarantee every

defendant a fair trial. U.S. CoNST. amend. V, VI; WA CoNST. art. I, § 3.

A defendant who claims on appeal that prosecutorial error or misconduct

deprived him of a fair trial bears the burden of establishing that the

conduct was both improper and prejudicial. State v. Fisher, 165 Wn.2d

727, 747, 202 P.3d 937 (2009). In the context of closing arguments, the

prosecuting attorney has "wide latitude in making arguments to-the jury

and prosecutors are allowed to draw reasonable inferences from the

evidence." Id. Appellate courts evaluate allegedly improper comments

"within the context of the prosecutor's entire argument, the issues in the

case, the evidence discussed in the argument, and the jury instructions."

State v. Dhaliwal, 150 Wn.2d 559, 578, 79 P.3d 432 (2003).

A defendant who did not object to an allegedly improper comment

has waived any claim on appeal unless the comment was so flagrant and

ill-intentioned that it caused an enduring prejudice that could not have
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been neutralized by a curative instruction. Fisher, 165 Wn.2d at 747.

Under this heightened standard, the defendant must show that (1) "no

curative instruction would have obviated any prejudicial effect on the

jury" and (2) the misconduct resulted in prejudice that "had a substantial

likelihood of affecting the jury verdict." State v. Emerv, 174 Wn.2d 741,

761, 278 P.3d 653 (2012) (quoting State v. Thor eg rson, 172 Wn.2d 438,

455, 258 P.3d 43 (2011)). Garcia-Mendez chose not to object during

closing argument. If there was any error at all by the State, Garcia-

Mendez cannot meet the heightened standard.

Herein, the State will address each alleged instance of misconduct,

not in the order put forth in the appellant's brief, but in the chronological

order in which the instances occurred during the closing arguments.

First, Garcia-Mendez alleges it was misconduct for the prosecutor

to have argued, referring to the victim, "Now it's time to bring him

justice." In support of his argument, Garcia-Mendez cites only two cases,

State v. Echevarria, 71 Wn. App. 595, 860 P.2d 420 (1993), and Mate v.

Bautista-Caldera, 56 Wn. App. 186, 783 P.2d 116 (1989). In fact, neither

case supports his argument, as they both involve a prosecutor's invoking

of societal concerns outside of the evidence admitted at trial. Echevarria

involved a simple undercover drug buy in downtown Seattle. 71 Wn.

App. at 596. At trial, the prosecutor began his opening statement by
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referring at length to the "war on drugs." Echevarria, at 596. He

remarked that the jurors knew from the news the identities of the

"commanders" and "generals" of the war on drugs. Id. He stated that the

trial would not be about these leaders, but rather about the "enlisted men

or the recruits" who become involved in drugs "for the power or the

money or the greed or peer pressure." Id. The prosecutor continued to

discuss the "war on drugs," referring to the "battlefield of our own streets,

our own neighborhoods and our own schools.'" Id. at 597.

The prosecutor then stated:

This country just had a good example of how to fight a war,
how a war can be fought successfully. This country has
also seen situations where we haven't been as successful.
The one thing we have learned is the way to successfu113~
fight a war is to know who your enemy is, to have a
strategy and a direct approach.

Id. The court reversed the con~Tiction, holding that the prosecutor's

remarks had "violated all of [the] tenets regarding the duty to seek a

verdict based on the evidence and free of prejudice" and that no cautionary

instruction could have cured the prejudicial effect of the argument. Id. at

598. The Court stated:

The prosecutor's repeated improper references to the war
on drugs set the tone for the entire trial In particular, his
comments about the "battlefield" in our neighborhoods and
schools and his oblique references to the Gulf War and the
Vietnam war were a deliberate appeal to the jury's passion
and prejudice. Id. at 598.

-18-

1608-9 Gazcia-Mendez COA



In Bautista-Caldera, the defendant was convicted of two counts of

first degree statutory rape and one count of indecent liberties, all of the

crimes involving the same nine year ald girl. 56 Wn. App. at 187. During

rebuttal closing argument the prosecutor stated:

Think of [the victim], think of all the children ~~Izo do not
talk that well who unfortunately don't remember
everything in precise order in which it happens but whose
only hope is people like yourself who are willing to take
this case seriously, understand why it is that this happened.

Should for same reason you not be satisfied that he
penetrated [the victim], although I think that is clear from
her testimony and from the definition that you're given,
certainly, ladies and gentlemen, do not tell that child that
this type of touching is okay, that this is just sonzethirzg that
she ~~ill have to lea~-~z to live ~~itlz. Let het• a~zd child~•en
know that you're ready to believe them and [eJnforce the
la~~ on their° behalf.

Id. at 194-95 (emphasis in original).

The Court held that the prosecutor had committed misconduct.

``[The argument] is not based solely on the evidence, however, but in

effect exhorts the jury to send a message to society about the general

problem of child sexual abuse. Such an emotional appeal is improper."

Id. at 195 (emphasis in original). Even though the argument was

misconduct, the court held that it was not so egregious that it could not

Have been neutralized by a curative instruction, and was not, therefore,

reversible error. Id. at 195.
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Neither Echevarria nor Bautista-Caldera is factually similar to this

case. Here, based on the admitted evidence, and without pleas to send a

broad message to society or to uphold an entire class of victims, the

prosecutor simply asked that justice be done in this individual case. This

was not misconduct.

Garcia-Mendez also claims that the prosecutor committed

misconduct by misstating the law when arguing that Garcia-Mendez was

the first aggressor for self-defense purposes. Essentially, Garcia-Mendez

claims that it was error for the prosecutor to discuss Garcia-Mendez's

known intent to "to rob and do some damage to people" when discussing

the initial aggressor issue. His argument is without merit. Although the

first aggressor is to be determined by assessment of the conduct of the

actor, it was not error for the prosecutor to argue that the jury should

evaluate Garcia-Mendez's conduct in light of his known state of mind — a

desire to rob and hurt people.

During closing argument the prosecutor played the surveillance

video (Ex. 12) that showed Garcia-Mendez and his male accomplice

quickly and aggressively approach Powell on the street while Powell

simply took a smoke break. Rather than walking side-by-side, the two

men were several feet apart as they approached Powell, thereby creating a

more difficult threat for Powell to defend against. Garcia-Mendez moved
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immediately into Powell's personal space, much closer than would be

expected if a person were to approach another on the street at 11:20 p.m.

for any innocent purpose. Powell stepped backward as Garcia-Mendez

continued advancing, and from a distance at which he could have reached

out and touched Powell, Garcia-Mendez shot him. Referring to the video

the prosecutor said, "You have seen the approach," and reminded the jury

that Askew, the cell-mate, had testified that Garcia-Mendez had admitted

that he and his accomplices went out to rob people that night.

Later in the argument, the prosecutor again referred to what the

jury could see on the video, saying that "Mr. Garcia-Mendez and his

accomplices were the aggressors in this case. From the surveillance video,

we know Mr. Powell was not looking for them." After defense counsel in

closing minimized the video evidence of the two accomplices approaching

Powell by saying "young men of a certain lifestyle walk a certain way,"

the prosecutor stated in rebuttal closing:

The key issue here is what did Mr. Garcia-Mendez intend.
Because the intent, his intent that day, is what determines
was he the primary aggressor and did he intend great bodily
harm. Rather than recklessly inflicting substantial bodily
harm.

The prosecutor did not err when discussing the first aggressor issue

by asking the jury to consider Garcia-Mendez's state of mind when he and

his accomplice aggressively approached Powell. Under the law, the
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actor's intent is specifically relevant. The jury was properly instructed on

the issue:

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